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U.S. SENTENCING COMMISSION GUIDELINES MANUAL
CASE ANNOTATIONS — FOURTH CIRCUIT

This document contains annotations to Fourth Circuit judicial opinions addressing some
of the most commonly applied federal sentencing guidelines. The document was developed to
help judges, lawyers and probation officers locate relevant authorities when applying the federal
sentencing guidelines. It does not include all authorities needed to correctly apply the guidelines.
Instead, it presents authorities that represent Fourth Circuit jurisprudence on selected guidelines.
The document is not a substitute for reading and interpreting the actual guidelines manual; rather,
the document serves as a supplement to reading and interpreting the guidelines manual.

ISSUES RELATED TO UNITED STATES V. BOOKER, 543 U.S. 220 (2005)
L Reasonableness Review

A. General Principles

United States v. Bartram, 407 F.3d 307 (4th Cir. 2005). Imposing guideline upward
adjustments and departures predicated on facts that were not charged in the indictment and found
by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt did not violate the Sixth Amendment rights of a defendant
who had pled guilty, where the district court’s fact findings were based on the defendant’s own
admissions. The district court examined and applied the sentencing guidelines just as Booker
instructs. Based on the district court’s careful deliberation in sentencing the defendant and
because the district court sentenced him within the statutory guidelines, indeed near the low end,
the Fourth Circuit determined that the sentence was reasonable.

United States v. Curry, 461 F.3d 452 (4th Cir. 2006). The court vacated a
below-guidelines sentence, concluding that (1) the district court erred in sentencing the defendant
“based on a conclusion that contravened the jury’s verdict,” and (2) although a defendant’s
restitution “may be worthy of some consideration,” it was insufficient to justify a 70% variance
from the guidelines.

United States v. Green, 436 F.3d 449 (4th Cir. 2005). The court joined the circuits that
have given a guideline sentence a presumption of reasonableness. The court also explained that
“[a] sentence falling outside of the properly calculated Guidelines range is not ipso facto
unreasonable. But if that sentence is based on an error in construing or applying the Guidelines,
it will be found unreasonable and vacated.” The court stated that a sentence based on an error of
law is unreasonable. Accord United States v. Battle, 499 F.3d 315 (4th Cir. 2007), cert. denied,
128 S. Ct. 1121 (2008) (quoting Green, “Sentences that fall within the Guideline range are
entitled to a presumption of reasonableness on appellate review”).

United States v. Hampton, 441 F.3d 284 (4th Cir. 2006). The court determined that a
sentence of probation for the defendant, who was convicted for being a felon-in-possession, was
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unreasonable even though the defendant was the sole custodial parent of his two small children;
the court of appeals observed that the defendant was assisted by his mother and was behind in
child support for his two other children.

United States v. Hughes, 401 F.3d 540 (4th Cir. 2005). “The determination of
reasonableness depends not only on an evaluation of the actual sentence imposed but also the
method employed in determining it.”

United States v. Johnson, 445 F.3d 339 (4th Cir. 2006). “The first reason that Guidelines
sentences are presumptively reasonable under Booker is the legislative and administrative
process by which they were created. . . The second reason that Guidelines sentences are
presumptively reasonable is that the process described above has led to the incorporation into the
Guidelines of the factors Congress identified in 18 U.S.C.A. § 3553(a) as most salient in
sentencing determinations. . . This leads to the third reason why Guidelines sentences must be
treated as presumptively reasonable, namely, that such sentences are based on individualized
factfinding and this factfinding takes place in a process that invites defendants to raise objections
and requires courts to resolve them.”

United States v. Osborne, 514 F.3d 377 (4th Cir. 2008), cert. denied, 128 S. Ct. 2525
(2008). “The Supreme Court has recently held that ‘courts of appeals must review all sentences
-- [including those] inside . . . the Guidelines range -- under a deferential abuse-of-discretion
standard.” The first step in this review requires us to ‘ensure that the district court committed no
significant procedural error, such as . . . improperly calculating . . . the Guidelines range.” In
assessing whether a sentencing court properly applied the Guidelines, “we review the court’s
factual findings for clear error and its legal conclusions de novo.” ‘On mixed questions of law
and fact regarding the Sentencing Guidelines, we apply a due deference standard in reviewing the
district court.””

United States v. Pauley, 511 F.3d 468 (4th Cir. 2007). “In [Gall v. United States, 128 S.
Ct. 586 (2007)], the Court instructed that the sentencing court should first calculate the
applicable Guidelines range. . . After calculating the Guidelines range, the sentencing court must
give both the government and the defendant ‘an opportunity to argue for whatever sentence they
deem appropriate.” . .. The sentencing court should then consider all of the [18 U.S.C.
8 3553(a)] factors to determine whether they support the sentence requested by either party. In so
doing, the sentencing court may not presume that the Guidelines range is reasonable. .. In the
event the sentencing court decides to impose a variance sentence, i.e., one outside of the
recommended Guidelines range, the sentencing court ‘must consider the extent of the deviation
and ensure that the justification is sufficiently compelling to support the degree of the variance.’
As noted by the Gall Court, it is an ‘uncontroversial’ proposition that a ‘major departure should
be supported by a more significant justification than a minor one.””



United States v. Smith, 566 F.3d 410 (4th Cir. 2009). The court stated that “while an
appellate court reviewing a sentence may presume that the sentence within a properly calculated
Guidelines range is reasonable, . . . the sentencing court may not, in sentencing a defendant, rely
on this presumption.” “Rather the sentencing court must “first calculate the Guidelines range,
and then consider what sentence is appropriate for the individual defendant in light of the
statutory sentencing factors, 18 U.S.C. 8 3553(a), explaining any variance from the former with
reference to the latter.”” Because the district court's statement in sentencing the defendant
suggested that the court improperly presumed that a sentence within the Guidelines range would
be reasonable, the Fourth Circuit vacated the defendant’ss sentence and remanded for
resentencing.

B. Unwarranted Disparities

United States v. Clark, 434 F.3d 684 (4th Cir. 2006). Although considering state
sentencing practices is not per se unreasonable, deviating from the guidelines simply because a
defendant would have received a different sentence in state court without considering the need to
avoid unwarranted sentence disparities among defendants with similar records who have been
found guilty of similar conduct is unreasonable.

United States v. Khan, 461 F.3d 477 (4th Cir. 2006), cert. denied, 550 U.S. 956 (2007).
The court reversed as unreasonable a below guidelines sentence of 52 months, finding that the
variance from the advisory guidelines range of 97 to 121 months was not justified by a co-
defendant’s lower sentence. The court held that “the district court impermissibly ignored the
primary reason that [the two co-defendants]. . . had different recommended Guidelines ranges in
the first place: the fact that the Guidelines treat those who accept responsibility and those who
obstruct justice differently.”

United States v. Montes-Pineda, 445 F.3d 375 (4th Cir. 2006), cert. denied, 127 S. Ct.
3044 2007). The court declined to require a sentencing court to deviate downward from the
guidelines based solely on the existence of fast-track programs in other districts because such a
requirement would conflict with Congress’s decision to limit the availability of sentence
reductions to certain jurisdictions.

IIL. Procedural Requirements

A. General Principles

United States v. Amaya-Portillo, 423 F.3d 427 (4th Cir. 2005). The court will review
“the district court’s imposition of the sentence enhancement de novo because it entails the

interpretation of a statute.”

United States v. Ashworth, 139 F. App’x 525 (4th Cir. 2005). A sentencing court can
continue to consider acquitted conduct in determining the guidelines range as long as its



consideration does not support a mandatory calculation or violate the court’s obligation to
consider relevant factors.

United States v. Carter, 564 F.3d 325 (4th Cir. 2009). The Fourth Circuit held that
imposition of term of probation for defendant who pled guilty to being a felon in possession of a
firearm was not procedurally reasonable; the sentencing court did not explain its individualized
reasons for imposing a sentence significantly below the advisory Sentencing Guidelines range,
nor did the court explain how the statutory sentencing factors applied to defendant or the
particular facts of his case, and the court failed to articulate which of defendant's arguments, if
any, it found persuasive. The court stated that “regardless of whether the district court imposes
an above, below, or within-Guidelines sentence, it must place on the record an “individualized
assessment’ based on the particular facts of the case before it. This individualized assessment
need not be elaborate or lengthy, but it must provide a rationale tailored to the particular case at
hand and adequate to permit ‘meaningful appellate review.””

United States v. Green, 436 F.3d 449 (4th Cir. 2006). “[T]o sentence a defendant, district
courts must (1) properly calculate the sentence range recommended by the [s]entencing
[g]uidelines; (2) determine whether a sentence within that range and within statutory limits
serves the factors set forth in 8 3553(a) and, if not, select a sentence that does serve those factors;
(3) implement mandatory statutory limitations; and (4) articulate the reasons for selecting the
particular sentence, especially explaining why a sentence outside of the [s]entencing [g]uideline
range better serves the relevant sentencing purposes set forth in § 3553(a).”

United States v. Hughes, 401 F.3d 540 (4th Cir. 2005). Although the sentencing
guidelines are no longer mandatory, Booker makes clear that a sentencing court must still consult
the guidelines and take them into account when sentencing. The district court should first
determine the appropriate sentencing range under the guidelines, making all factual findings
appropriate for that determination. The court should consider this sentencing range along with
the other factors described in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), and then impose a sentence. If that sentence
falls outside the guidelines range, the court should explain its reasons for the departure as
required by 18 U.S.C. § 3553(c)(2). The sentence must be “within the statutorily prescribed
range and . . . reasonable.”

United States v. Ibanga, 271 F. App’x 298 (4th Cir. 2008) (unpublished) (per curiam).
The defendant was convicted of money laundering by a jury, but acquitted of drug trafficking in
the same verdict. At sentencing the government proved by a preponderance that the defendant
trafficked methamphetamine. The judge sentenced the defendant based solely on the jury’s
money laundering verdict, “noting that sentencing based upon [the] acquitted conduct [of drug
trafficking] ‘makes the constitutional guarantee of a right to a jury trial quite hollow.”” The
circuit court vacated and remanded the case because, “the court committed significant procedural
error by categorically excluding acquitted conduct from the information that it could consider in
the sentencing process.”



United States v. Milam, 443 F.3d 382 (4th Cir. 2006). The court determined that “facts
stated in a presentence report [PSR] may not, at sentencing, be deemed to be admissions by the
defendant sufficient to bypass the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial as articulated in . . .
Booker . . . even though the defendant, who had been given the . . . [PSR] before sentencing, did
not object to the facts.”

United States v. Montes-Pineda, 445 F.3d 375 (4th Cir. 2006), cert. denied, 127 S. Ct.
3044 (2007). The court rejected the government’s argument that the court of appeals does not
have jurisdiction to review a guidelines sentence because “[h]olding that a sentence within a
properly calculated [g]uidelines range is automatically lawful would render superfluous the other
8 3553(a) factors and so contravene the statute’s mandatory language.”

United States v. Perez-Pena, 453 F.3d 236 (4th Cir. 2006). “That the guidelines are
non-binding in the wake of Booker does not mean that they are irrelevant to the imposition of a
sentence. To the contrary, remaining provisions of the Sentencing Reform Act require the
district court to consider the guideline range applicable to the defendant and pertinent policy
statements of the Sentencing Commission.”

B. Ex Post Facto

United States v. Davenport, 445 F.3d 366 (4th Cir. 2006). The court rejected the
appellant’s ex post facto claim and stated that the appellant’s notice of the maximum statutory
penalty satisfied the Ex Post Facto Clause’s requirement of fair notice.

I11. Harmless Error

United States v. Anderson, 161 F. App’x 253 (4th Cir. 2006) (unpublished). The court
will review a preserved claim of constitutional Booker error for harmless error and must reverse
unless the court finds the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

United States v. Foster, 162 F. App’x 217 (4th Cir. 2006) (unpublished). When the
defendant preserves his issue, the court reviews constitutional Booker error de novo.

United States v. Shatley, 448 F.3d 264 (4th Cir. 2006). The court held that the
government demonstrated harmless error because the district court announced an identical
nonguideline alternative sentence.

United States v. Rodriguez, 433 F.3d 411 (4th Cir. 2006). The court held that the
appellant properly preserved his claim of statutory Booker error by raising a timely Blakely
objection at sentencing.



IV.  Waiver of Right to Appeal Sentence

United States v. Blick, 408 F.3d 162 (4th Cir. 2005). An appeal waiver in a plea
agreement, barring the defendant from appealing “any sentence within the maximum provided in
the statute of conviction, or the manner in which that sentence was determined” on “any ground
whatsoever,” precluded the defendant from appealing a 30-month prison term, on the ground that
the sentence was miscalculated under the sentencing guidelines, or on the ground that his Sixth
Amendment right to a jury trial was violated by a sentence based upon judicially-determined
facts. The defendant agreed to be sentenced in accordance with the sentencing guidelines in
effect at time of his sentence, so the defendant was sentenced in the manner that he anticipated,
despite the subsequent decision by the Supreme Court in Booker. See also United States v.
Amaya-Portillo, 423 F.3d 427 (4th Cir. 2005) (finding that the defendant waived the right to
appeal his sentence on ground that mandatory sentencing guidelines were applied).

United States v. Johnson, 410 F.3d 137 (4th Cir. 2005). The Fourth Circuit upheld an
appeal waiver, entered into before the Supreme Court issued Booker, holding that the Supreme
Court’s issuance of Booker did not render defendant’s guilty plea unknowing or involuntary. The
court also held that the defendant’s Booker challenge did not fall beyond scope of his pre-Booker
appeal waiver.

V. Retroactivity

United States v. Morris, 429 F.3d 65 (4th Cir. 2005). Booker does not apply retroactively
to cases on collateral review because although the rule announced in Booker is a new criminal
procedural rule, it is not a watershed rule.

VL Revocation

United States v. Foster, 177 F. App’x 354 (4th Cir. 2006). “A sentence imposed upon
revocation of supervised release that falls within the range authorized by statute is reviewable
only if it is ‘plainly unreasonable.” The reasonableness of a revocation sentence is reviewable for
abuse of discretion. The sentencing ranges provided by . .. 87B1.4 . .. are advisory and do not
bind the sentencing court.” (citations omitted).

United States v. Moulden, 478 F.3d 652 (4th Cir. 2007). The proper standard of review
for probation revocation sentences is the same standard applied to supervised release revocation
sentences - that is, the court reverses only where the sentence imposed is “plainly unreasonable.”
The defendant argued that, because a probation revocation requires consideration of all of the
section 3553(a) factors (as opposed to only some of them, as required for revoking supervised
release pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3583(c)), the reasonableness standard should apply. The Fourth
Circuit noted that other circuits may apply a different standard for the revocations at issue, but
also noted that all the circuits to address the issue have applied the same standard to both types of
revocations.



VII. Forfeiture

United States v. Alamoudi, 452 F.3d 310 (4th Cir. 2006). “Because no statutory or other
maximum limits the amount of forfeiture, a forfeiture order can never violate Booker. . . . [T]he
Sixth Amendment applies neither to criminal forfeitures in general nor to a district court’s order
permitting the forfeiture of substitute assets in an appropriate case.”

VIII. Restitution

United States v. Rattler, 139 F. App’x 534 (4th Cir. 2005) (unpublished). The court held
that because there is no statutory maximum for restitution, Booker does not apply to restitution.

IX. Miscellaneous
A. Prior Convictions

United States v. Cheek, 415 F.3d 349 (4th Cir. 2005). “It is thus clear that the Supreme
Court continues to hold that the Sixth Amendment (as well as due process) does not demand that
the mere fact of a prior conviction used as a basis for a sentencing enhancement be pleaded in an
indictment and submitted to a jury for proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Even were we to agree
with [the appellant’s] prognostication that it is only a matter of time before the Supreme Court
overrules Almendarez-Torres, We are not free to overrule or ignore the Supreme Court’s
precedents.”

United States v. Kellam, 568 F. 3d 125 (4th Cir. 2009). The court held that the
government did not carry its burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt the fact that the
defendant was the person convicted in two previous drug felonies. The court stated that the
district court “did not explicitly find that [the defendant] was the defendant in the underlying
Virginia and Maryland convictions.” Further, the prosecution made no further efforts to establish
that the defendant was the defendant in the prior convictions, despite several discrepancies
regarding the issue of identity. Thus, the court concluded, despite the fact that it is probable that
the defendant was convicted of the underlying crimes, “to justify the life sentence enhancement
[pursuant to 841(b)(1)(A)], such proof should have been presented by the prosecution and found
as proven by the sentencing court.” The Fourth Circuit remanded the case for further
proceedings, “authorizing the courts to permit the prosecution to properly support —if it can—the
prior convictions alleged in the information.”

United States v. Thompson, 421 F.3d 278 (4th Cir. 2005). In Shepard, the Supreme Court
prohibited courts from resolving a disputed fact about a prior conviction by using information
that is not inherent in that prior conviction, but held that the “fact of a prior conviction” remains
a valid enhancement even when not found by the jury. The court explained that the fact of a
prior conviction cannot be severed from its essential components —e.g., whether prior
convictions occurred on different occasions— because “some facts are so inherent in a



conviction that they need not be found by a jury.” Furthermore, the court explained that the date
on which a prior crime was committed is a fact inherent in the fact of a prior conviction and does
not have to be admitted by the defendant or found by a jury. (citations omitted).

B. Plain Error

United States v. Hughes, 401 F.3d 540 (4th Cir. 2005). In order to determine for
purposes of plain error review whether the defendant was prejudiced by the district court’s Sixth
Amendment error under the mandatory guidelines regime in effect at the time of sentencing, the
question the court must decide is whether the defendant has established that the sentence
imposed by the district court as a result of the Sixth Amendment violation was longer than that to
which he would otherwise be subject. Because the maximum sentence permitted by the jury
verdict was 12 months and the district court imposed a sentence of 46 months, the error affected
the defendant’s substantial rights. The court remanded for re-sentencing. See also United States
v. Ebersole, 411 F.3d 517, (4th Cir. 2005) (same); United States v. Pierce, 409 F.3d 228 (4th Cir.
2005) (same); United States v. Johnson, 400 F.3d 187 (4th Cir. 2005) (determining that because
the defendant’s sentence was based upon a crime for which he was not convicted and exceeded
that which would be available absent the finding of the crime of sexual abuse, the court found
plain error had occurred and remanded for re-sentencing).

United States v. White, 405 F.3d 208 (4th Cir. 2005). The court decided that sentencing a
defendant under a mandatory guidelines system is not structural error because it does not deprive

the defendant of a basic protection without which the criminal process would be inherently
unfair.

CHAPTER ONE: Introduction and General Application Principles
Part B General Application Principles

§1B1.1 Application Instructions

United States v. Fenner, 147 F.3d 360 (4th Cir. 1998). The cross reference in §2K2.1
required the application of the homicide guideline where death resulted from the firearms offense
for which the defendants were sentenced; even though the defendants had previously been
acquitted of the homicide. The court of appeals rejected a due process challenge to the cross
reference. The court reasoned that the cross reference does not create a new offense or increase
the statutory maximum to which the defendants were exposed, but merely limits the discretion of
the district court in selecting an appropriate sentence within the statutorily defined range.

§1B1.2 Applicable Guidelines

United States v. Locklear, 24 F.3d 641 (4th Cir. 1994). The district court erroneously
applied 82D1.2 to increase the defendant’s base offense level. The defendant was charged with



conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute cocaine and marihuana. Section 1B1.2 instructs
the sentencing judge to determine first the proper guideline and then any applicable specific
offense characteristics under that guideline. Section 2D1.1, the guideline applicable in the
instant case, has its own specific offense characteristics which do not include a cross reference to
82D1.2.

§1B1.3 Relevant Conduct

United States v. Butner, 277 F.3d 481 (4th Cir. 2002). The district court erred when it did
not include the full amount of the post-conversion deposits in the loss amount involved in a
conspiracy to commit bankruptcy fraud. The appellate court held that the district court should
have included the deposits as relevant conduct for sentencing purposes based on uncontroverted
evidence that linked each post-conversion check to the conspiracy.

United States v. Chong, 285 F.3d 343 (4th Cir. 2002). The district court erred in applying
a two-level enhancement for reckless endangerment because a codefendant, in an attempt to flee
the police, drove down a one-way street and crashed the vehicle. The appellate court held that
the relevant conduct standards are only to be applied in the absence of any specific provisions to
the contrary in the underlying guideline. The court noted that a specific provision exists in
Application Note 5 of §3C1.2 which states “under this section, the defendant is accountable for
his own conduct and for conduct he aided or abetted, counseled, commanded, induced, procured,
or willfully caused.” Because the record was incomplete as to whether the defendant’s own
conduct met the standard set in Note 5, the application of 81B1.3 was inappropriate.

United States v. Dove, 247 F.3d 152 (4th Cir. 2001). The district court erred by including
conduct that did not violate state law in its “relevant conduct” calculation under 81B1.3. The
appellate court held that relevant conduct under the guidelines must be criminal, rather than
merely malignant or immoral.

United States v. Hodge, 354 F.3d 305 (4th Cir. 2004). The defendant appealed his
conviction and sentence for possession of a firearm and ammunition by a convicted felon, and
possession of cocaine with the intent to distribute. At sentencing, the district court found that,
various 1996 drug transactions committed by the defendant were relevant conduct to the 1999
offense. The Fourth Circuit affirmed, noting that the district court found that the 1996
transactions and the 1999 offense were not isolated occurrences, but rather, part of a continuous
pattern of narcotics trafficking. The record supported the finding that the defendant had never
stopped dealing drugs between 1996 and 1999. Accordingly, the district court did not err in
counting the 1996 sales as relevant conduct.

United States v. Kimberlin, 18 F.3d 1156 (4th Cir. 1994). Absent evidence of exceptional
circumstances, it is fair to infer that a codefendant’s possession of a dangerous weapon is
foreseeable to a defendant with reason to believe that their collaborative criminal venture
includes an exchange of controlled substances for a large amount of cash.

United States v. Moore, 29 F.3d 175 (4th Cir. 1994). The abuse of trust enhancement



must be based on an individualized determination of each defendant’s culpability and cannot be
based solely on the acts of co-conspirators.

United States v. Pauley, 289 F.3d 254 (4th Cir. 2002). The district court did not err when
it applied the cross reference under 82D1.1(d)(1) because the murders constituted relevant
conduct under 81B1.3(a)(2). The defendant pled guilty to aiding and abetting possession with
intent to distribute methamphetamine and marijuana, and the string of thefts for which the
defendant was indicted and the double murders that were committed during the course of one of
the thefts were all part of the same course of conduct as required under §1B1.3(a)(2).

United States v. Rhynes, 206 F.3d 349 (4th Cir. 1999). A district court has a separate
obligation to make independent factual findings regarding relevant conduct for sentencing
purposes. See United States v. Love, 134 F.3d 595, 605 (4th Cir. 1998); 8§1B1.3. Forfeitures may
not act as artificial limitations on the district court’s sentencing discretion.

§1B1.8 Use of Certain Information

United States v. Lopez, 219 F.3d 343 (4th Cir. 2000). When the plea agreement expressly
provides that any self-incriminating information would not be used in determining the applicable
sentencing guideline range, the sentencing court cannot use the proffered statement as a basis for
making a finding as to drug amount.

United States v. Washington, 146 F.3d 219 (4th Cir. 1998). The district court erred in
relying on the defendant’s statements, which were protected under the defendant’s plea
agreement, to his probation officer regarding the amount of cocaine distributed to deny him a
reduction for minimal or minor participant.

§1B1.10 Retroactivity of Amended Guideline Ranges

United States v. Capers, 61 F.3d 1100 (4th Cir. 1995). “[C]ourts can give retroactive
effect to a clarifying (as opposed to substantive) amendment regardless of whether it is listed in
USSG §1B1.10.”

United States v. Dunphy, 551 F.3d 247 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 2402 (2009).
The defendant moved for a sentence reduction pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(2) and was
granted a reduction under USSG App. C, Amendment 706 (two-level reduction for crack
cocaine) as it is listed at 81B1.10 as an amendment that may be applied retroactively. The
resulting sentence was at the bottom of the amended guideline range. The district court denied
the defendant’s subsequent motion for a sentence reduction pursuant to section 3582(c)(2) for a
sentence below the amended guideline range. The district court based its denial on section
3582(c)(2) and 28 U.S.C. § 994(u), which prohibit a court from granting a sentence reduction
that is inconsistent with the applicable policy statements issued by the Sentencing Commission.
Affirming the district court’s denial, the circuit court held: “When a sentence is within the
guidelines applicable at the time of the original sentencing, in an 18 U.S.C § 3582(c)
resentencing hearing, a district judge is not authorized to reduce a defendant’s sentence below the

10



amended guideline range.” The circuit court also rejected the defendant’s Booker argument
because “[e]ven before Booker, the guidelines were not mandatory in 8 3582(c) proceedings.”

§1B1.11 Use of Guidelines Manual in Effect on Date of Sentencing (Policy Statement)

United States v. Lewis, 235 F.3d 215 (4th Cir. 2000). In calculating the defendant’s
sentence for conviction of four counts of filing false tax returns, the district court applied the
Manual in effect on the date of sentencing, pursuant to 81B1.11. The defendant appealed,
arguing that because the application of the later Manual resulted in increased punishment for the
first incident of tax evasion, the sentence violates the Ex Post Facto Clause. The appellate court
concluded that 81B1.11(b)(3) does not violate the Ex Post Facto Clause. The defendant had
ample warning when she committed the later acts of tax evasion that those acts would cause her
sentence for the earlier crime to be determined in accordance with the Manual applicable to the
later offenses. Therefore, the district court was correct in applying the revised edition of the
Manual.

CHAPTER TWO: Offense Conduct

Part A Offenses Against the Person

§2A1.1 First Degree Murder

United States v. Carr, 303 F.3d 539 (4th Cir. 2002). The defendant was convicted of
intentionally setting fire to an apartment building and causing the death of an occupant. At
sentencing, the district court properly cross referenced the arson guideline to 82A1.1 (First
Degree Murder). The defendant then sought a downward departure pursuant to 82A1.1,
Application Note 1, which states that a downward departure may be warranted when the
defendant did not knowingly or intentionally cause death. At sentencing the district court found
that the defendant was recklessly indifferent as to whether people would be in the apartment
building, equating reckless indifference with knowledge. Thus, the court denied the defendant’s
request for a downward departure. The court of appeals vacated the sentence and remanded for a
clear finding as to whether the defendant knowingly caused the death of another.

§2A6.1 Threatening or Harassing Communications

United States v. Brock, 211 F.3d 88 (4th Cir. 2000). The defendant pled guilty to one
count of violating 47 U.S.C. § 223(a)(1)(E) by making repeated interstate telephone calls for the
purpose of harassing his former girlfriend. By the terms of the plea agreement, the defendant
admitted only to using “threatening words,” and the parties agreed that the applicable guideline
was 82A6.1(a)(2), which set the base offense level at six. The district court applied a two-level
enhancement pursuant to 82A6.1(b)(2) for making “more than two threats.” The Fourth Circuit
reversed application of the enhancement. If §2A6.1(a)(2) applies, then the offense did not
involve threats to injure a person, as would be required for an enhancement under 82A6.1(b)(2)
to apply. Therefore, “because application of both provisions would require the district court to
make contradictory factual findings,” the enhancement for making more than two threats was
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improper.

United States v. Stokes, 347 F.3d 103 (4th Cir. 2003). The phrase “more than two
threats,” as used in 82A6.1(b)(2), referred to the number of threatening communications, not the
number of victims threatened.

United States v. Worrell, 313 F.3d 867 (4th Cir. 2002). Pre-threat relevant conduct may
be used as evidence of intent to carry out the threat if there is a substantial and direct connection
with the offense.

Part B Offenses Involving Property

§2B1.1 Larceny, Embezzlement, and Other Forms of Theft; Offenses Involving Stolen
Property; Property Damage or Destruction; Fraud and Deceit; Forgery; Offenses
Involving Altered or Counterfeit Instruments Other than Counterfeit Bearer
Obligations of the United States

United States v. Pierce, 409 F.3d 228 (4th Cir. 2005). The evidence supported the district
court’s finding that $235,000 was the loss attributable to the defendant convicted of mail fraud in
connection with a bingo operation. The estimated total loss was $265,598, based on the average
monthly purchases of off-the-books bingo games. The Government must prove the amount of
loss attributed to a fraud by a preponderance of evidence, and the district court must make a
reasonable estimate of the loss, given the available information.

United States v. Ruhe, 191 F.3d 376 (4th Cir. 1999). There is no statutory reason why the
value of certain goods for jurisdictional purposes should be the same as the value for sentencing
purposes. The definition of loss for jurisdictional purposes requires a determination of the value
of the goods. Loss for guidelines purposes means that value which most closely represents the
loss to the victim, and not the monetary value of the property involved.

§2B3.1 Robbery

United States v. Osborne, 514 F.3d 377 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 128 S. Ct. 2525 (2008).
The defendant forced two employees of a drugstore he was robbing to accompany him from the
back of the store to the front door. At sentencing, he received a 4-level enhancement pursuant to
§2B3.1(b)(4)(A)" because the employees were “abducted to facilitate commission of the offense
or to facilitate escape.” The defendant appealed the enhancement, arguing that it did not apply
because the employees did not leave the store. The circuit court rejected this argument, holding
that for the purposes of the sentencing guidelines, “an abduction enhancement may properly be
applied even though the victim remained within the confines of a single building.”

United States v. Reevey, 364 F.3d 151 (4th Cir. 2004). The defendant was charged in a

! The decision references §2B3.1(b)(4)(A), but the relevant subsection is actually (b)(5)(A). See
§2B3.1(b)(5)(A) (2005).
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three-count indictment with carjacking, kidnapping, and possessing a firearm in furtherance of a
crime of violence. At sentencing, the district court imposed several sentence enhancements,
including a two-level enhancement for a threat of death pursuant to 82B3.1(b)(2)(F). The
defendant argued that the two-level sentencing enhancement for a threat of death, combined with
the sentence for his 18 U.S.C. 8924(c) conviction, resulted in impermissible double counting
under the guidelines. The Fourth Circuit stated that the relevant inquiry was whether the threat-
of-death enhancement was applied “for possession, brandishing, use, or discharge of an explosive
or firearm.” Because both of the threats made by the defendant were to shoot the victim with the
firearm and the defendant was convicted of possessing under section 8924(c), the court
concluded that the application of the enhancement fell within the scope of 82K2.4's double-
counting prohibition.

United States v. Souther, 221 F.3d 626 (4th Cir. 2000). Where the defendant kept his
hands in his coat pockets during the robberies after having handed the teller a note indicating that
he had a gun, and it appeared that the defendant did have a dangerous weapon, the enhancement
was proper even though the defendant did not in fact have a weapon and did not simulate the
presence of a weapon with his hands beyond placing them in his pockets.

United States v. Wilson, 198 F.3d 467 (4th Cir. 1999). The appellate court upheld the
district court’s application of 82B3.1(b)(4)(B) for physical restraint enhancement during a
carjacking. A gun was placed to the victim’s head, and she was prevented from leaving her car,
albeit briefly, until the defendants could get her money and control of the car. Thus, the victim
was physically restrained to facilitate the commission of the carjacking.

Part C Offenses Involving Public Officials

§2C1.1 Offering, Giving, Soliciting, or Receiving a Bribe; Extortion Under Color of
Official Right

United States v. Matzkin, 14 F.3d 1014 (4th Cir. 1994). The district court properly
enhanced the defendant’s sentence for influencing an official in a sensitive position pursuant to
82C1.1(b)(2)(B). The defendant was convicted of bribery of a Navy employee who, as
supervisory engineer, used his position to acquire and transfer information to the defendant
relating to defense contract procurements. The defendant argued that since his Navy contact was
only a GS-15 Navy engineer, he was merely a mid-level employee who lacked the power to
award contracts on his own. The court of appeals disagreed, citing to the contact’s position on
the procurement review panel as evidence of his sensitive position. His position on this three
person board provided him with the opportunity not only to obtain the information, but also to
influence the Navy’s final decision making, since it was unlikely that the Navy would grant a bid
without the favorable opinion of the review board.

United States v. Quinn, 359 F.3d 666 (4th Cir. 2004). The lower court erred because it
added the gross rather than the net values of the contracts to calculate the loss for a bribery
payment. The defendants also asserted that the district court erred in failing to grant a downward
departure because of the sentence disparity between the two appellants and a codefendant who

13



pled guilty rather than go to trial. Disparity is not enough to grant a departure, and the district
court found no evidence of prosecutorial misconduct. The sentence was vacated and remanded
for recalculation of loss.

Part D Offenses Involving Drugs

§2D1.1 Unlawful Manufacturing, Importing, Exporting, Trafficking (Including Possession
with Intent to Commit These Offenses); Attempt or Conspiracy

United States v. Christmas, 222 F.3d 141 (4th Cir. 2000). Two-level enhancement for
possession of a dangerous weapon, pursuant to §2D1.1(b)(1), was proper and did not constitute
double jeopardy even though the defendant previously had been convicted in state court for the
same possession of the same firearm. Under the doctrine of dual sovereignty, federal
prosecutions are not barred by a previous state prosecution for the same or similar conduct.

United States v. Fletcher, 74 F.3d 49 (4th Cir. 1996). The amendments to 82D1.1 and its
inclusion in §1B1.10(c) for retroactive application required resentencing. The amended
guideline provides that each marijuana plant is equivalent to 100 grams of dry marijuana,
regardless of the number or sex of the plants involved. Under the amended provision, the
defendant was responsible for the equivalent of 72.2 kilograms of dry marijuana (level 22,
guideline range 41 to 51 months), rather than 722 kilograms (level 30, guideline range 97 to 121
months).

United States v. Fullilove, 388 F.3d 104 (4th Cir. 2004). In a case in which law
enforcement officers removed 26 grams of cocaine base from a suspicious package prior to its
delivery, inserted a transmitter and left .37 grams for delivery, the appellate court held that the
district court should have sentenced based on the pre-delivery weight rather than the delivery
weight of .37 grams. The appellate court determined the district court’s calculation resulted from
an error in interpreting the guideline language. The defendant’s culpability was not related to the
quantity delivered but to the quantity planned for delivery.

United States v. Hyppolite, 65 F.3d 1151 (4th Cir. 1995). The district court did not
commit clear error in converting all the cocaine powder found in the defendant’s apartment into
cocaine base for sentencing purposes, where credible evidence was presented to establish that the
powder cocaine was manufactured into cocaine base for distribution.

United States v. Kimberlin, 18 F.3d 1156 (4th Cir. 1994). The two-level enhancement
applied to the defendant’s base offense levels as a result of co-conspirator’s possession of a
firearm was proper since it was foreseeable that the firearm would be used in the drug offense.

United States v. Lipford, 203 F.3d 259 (4th Cir. 2000). After ordering a judgment of
acquittal on the defendant’s 924(c) conviction, the district court increased the defendant’s
sentence by two levels after finding that the defendant possessed a firearm during the drug
conspiracy. The appellate court reinstated the defendant’s 924(c)(1) conviction. The court
vacated the sentence on the drug count and remanded for a determination of whether the increase
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under §2D1.1(b)(1) was warranted in light of the 924(c)(1) conviction.

United States v. McAllister, 272 F.3d 228 (4th Cir. 2001). The district court erred in
applying the two-level enhancement under §82D1.1(b)(1) for possession of a firearm during a
drug felony. The Fourth Circuit found that there was no reliable evidence to support the
application of the enhancement. The only evidence upon which the district court based the
enhancement was contained in a Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) investigation report.
The report was based on the interview of a single person who claimed that he saw the defendant
with handguns “on many occasions.” The report was admitted into evidence and read into the
record, but the report did not assert that the informant saw the defendant with a handgun during a
narcotics transaction.

§2D1.2 Drug Offenses Occurring Near Protected Locations or Involving Underage or
Pregnant Individuals; Attempt or Conspiracy

See United States v. Locklear, 24 F.3d 641 (4th Cir. 1994), §1B1.2.
Part G Offenses Involving Prostitution, Sexual Exploitation of Minors, and Obscenity

§2G2.2 Trafficking in Material Involving the Sexual Exploitation of a Minor; Receiving,
Transporting, Shipping, or Advertising Material Involving the Sexual Exploitation
of a Minor; Possessing Material Involving the Sexual Exploitation of a Minor
with Intent to Traffic

United States v. Dotson, 324 F.3d 256 (4th Cir. 2003). The defendant pled guilty to
attempting to receive in commerce a child pornography videotape. The defendant answered an
advertisement on the computer and placed an order for a child pornography videotape. The
district court did not err in applying a two-level increase under §2G2.2(b)(5) for the use of a
computer in connection with the offense. The Fourth Circuit concluded that under the
guidelines, those who seek out and respond to notice and advertisement of such materials are as
culpable as those who initially send out the notice and advertisement. The court affirmed the
district court’s application of the enhancement.

United States v. Layton, 564 F.3d 330 (4th Cir. 2009). In a matter of first impression, the
Fourth Circuit joined the Seventh, Eighth, and Eleventh Circuits in holding that use of a
peer-to-peer file-sharing program constitutes “distribution’ for the purposes of 82G2.2(b)(3)(F).
“When knowingly using a file-sharing program that allows others to access child pornography
files, a defendant commits an act ‘related to the transfer of material involving the sexual
exploitation of a minor.” U.S.S.G. 82G2.2 cmt. n.1.”

Part K Offenses Involving Public Safety

§2K1.4 Arson; Property Damage by Use of Explosives

See United States v. Davis, 202 F.3d 212 (4th Cir. 2000). Shooting a gun constituted a
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“use of explosives” under §2K1.4.

§2K2.1 Unlawful Receipt, Possession, or Transportation of Firearms or Ammunition

United States v. Blount, 337 F.3d 404 (4th Cir. 2003). The question on appeal was
whether a 82K2.1(b)(5) enhancement should apply when a defendant acquired a firearm during a
theft or burglary, but did not use the firearm or show any willingness to do so. The Fourth
Circuit held that the burglary did qualify as “another felony offense” but that a §2K2.1(b)(5)
enhancement was nonetheless improper because the record did not demonstrate a sufficient
nexus between the burglary and the defendant’s possession of a firearm. The court noted that its
past opinions treated “in connection with” as synonymous with “in relation to.” In other words, a
weapon is used or possessed “in connection with” another offense if the weapon facilitated or has
a tendency to facilitate the [other] offense. Id. at 829. The firearm must have some purpose or
effect with respect to the crime; its presence or involvement could not be the result of accident or
coincidence.?

See United States v. Fenner, 147 F.3d 360 (4th Cir. 1998), §1B1.1.

United States v. Garnett, 243 F.3d 824 (4th Cir. 2001). The defendant stole a $1,300
machine gun and gave it to another person to sell and use the proceeds to obtain drugs. The
defendant received $20 worth of cocaine base. At sentencing, the district court increased the
defendant’s offense level for using the firearm in connection with a second felony offense. The
appellate court held that, while it was clear that defendant used the firearm to facilitate a drug-
related offense, the evidence was insufficient to find that the offense rose to the level of a felony
offense. There was no finding of the specific amount of cocaine base involved, and such a
finding was necessary in order to determine whether the second offense was a felony or a
misdemeanor. The appellate court held, as a matter of law, that the purchase or possession of any
felony amount of drugs would constitute a felony drug trafficking crime for purposes of
18 U.S.C. § 924(c).

United States v. Levenite, 277 F.3d 454 (4th Cir. 2002). The district court did not err by
including detonators as weapons for a six-level enhancement under 82K2.1(b)(1)(C). The
appellate court held that since 82K2.1 includes destructive devices as defined by 26 U.S.C.

8§ 5845, a detonator could potentially be a destructive device subject to proof from the
government that the defendant intended to use it as a weapon. The government produced
evidence that the defendant had no legitimate reason or commercial purpose for possession of the
detonators. The government also produced testimony that the detonators were manufactured and
designed to set off explosives like dynamite. Finally, the government produced evidence that the

2 In 2006, the Commission amended §2K2.1(b)(5) to resolve a circuit split concerning the application of the
enhancement for the use of a firearm in connection with a burglary and drug offense. In the case of a burglary
offense, the enhancement applies to a defendant who takes a firearm in the course of a burglary, even if the defendant
did not engage in any other conduct with that firearm during the course of the burglary. In the case of a drug
trafficking offense, the enhancement applies where the firearm is found in close proximity to drugs, drug
manufacturing materials, or drug paraphernalia. See Amendment 691, USSG App. C.
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detonators were seized from the defendant’s house along with various other firearms. The
appellate court held that although the evidence presented by the government was circumstantial,
it was sufficient to support a finding that the defendant intended to use the detonators as
weapons.

United States v. Payton, 28 F.3d 17 (4th Cir. 1994). The defendant was convicted of
being a felon in possession of a firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1). He argued that his
prior state conviction for involuntary manslaughter was not a “crime of violence” because it was
not a specific intent crime and because the catchall phrase of 84B1.2 applies only to crimes
against property. The circuit court relied on 84B1.2, Application Note 2, which specifically
includes manslaughter within the definition of a “crime of violence.” Although the circuit court
acknowledged that the application note does not distinguish between voluntary and involuntary
manslaughter, it adopted the Ninth Circuit’s reasoning in United States v. Springfield, 829 F.2d
860 (9th Cir. 1987), and held that involuntary manslaughter, by its nature, “involves the death of
another person [and] is highly likely to be the result of violence. It thus comes within the intent,
if not the precise wording of section 924(c)(3)[(B)].”

United States v. Schaal, 340 F.3d 196 (4th Cir. 2003). On appeal, the defendant argued
that the district court impermissibly double counted by applying both the 82K2.1(b)(4)
enhancement for stolen firearms and the §2K2.1(b)(5) enhancement, because the defendant used
or possessed a firearm in connection with another felony offense. The defendant argued that the
82K2.1(b)(5) enhancement already took into account the fact that the weapons were stolen and
therefore application of the §82K2.1(b)(4) enhancement constituted double counting. The Fourth
Circuit concluded that nothing in the guidelines prohibited the application of both enhancements
under the instant circumstances, noting that the Commission had addressed the issue of double
counting with regard to §2K2.1(b)(4) without forbidding simultaneous application of the
82K2.1(b)(4) and (b)(5) enhancements. In addition, the court also found that the two
enhancements were conceptually separate, as evidenced by the fact that either could apply in the
absence of the other. Consequently, the court concluded that the district court did not engage in
impermissible double counting in applying the two enhancements together.

United States v. Solomon, 274 F.3d 825 (4th Cir. 2001). The defendant purchased a 9mm
pistol and falsely answered “no” to the question regarding whether he had ever been convicted of
a misdemeanor crime on a federal form, violating 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(9). The defendant received
an eight-level reduction for possessing a firearm solely for lawful sporting purposes or collection
under 82K2.1(b)(2). The Fourth Circuit noted that the district court applied the lawful sporting
purposes or collection reduction despite the fact that there was no evidence of the purpose for
which the weapon had been used. Section 2K2.1(b)(2) permits a reduction only if a firearm is
possessed “solely for lawful sporting purposes or collection—and no other purpose.” Because
neither the district court nor the probation officer made any findings as to the exact use of the
firearm, it could not be said to fit this definition. Therefore, because the record lacked a factual
basis for the reduction, the case was remanded to the district court for resentencing.
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§2K2.4 Use of Firearms or Armor-Piercing Ammunition During or in Relation to Certain
Crimes

United States v. Hamrick, 43 F.3d 877 (4th Cir. 1995) (en banc). The district court did
not err in concluding that the improvised dysfunctional incendiary letter bomb used by the
defendant in his attempt to assassinate a United States Attorney was a “destructive device” under
18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1). The defendant argued that the terms “firearm” and “destructive device” in
section 924(c)(1) were interchangeable and thus the district court should have imposed the five-
year sentence prescribed for use of a “firearm” instead of the 30-year sentence prescribed for use
of a “destructive device.” The circuit court ruled that while “firearm” is defined to include
“destructive device,” the terms are not interchangeable. Rather, a “destructive device” is a subset
of “firearm,” and the statute is unambiguous that use of a destructive device shall be punished by
30 years’ imprisonment.

Part L. Offenses Involving Immigration, Naturalization, and Passports

§21.1.2 Unlawfully Entering or Remaining in the United States

United States v. Amaya-Portillo, 423 F.3d 427 (4th Cir. 2005). A felony under the
Controlled Substance Act means any federal or state offense classified by applicable federal or
state law as a felony. Since the defendant’s Maryland conviction for cocaine possession is
neither classified as a felony by federal or Maryland law, the offense is not a felony under
21 U.S.C. 8 802(13), nor an aggravated felony under section 2L.1.2 of the guidelines.

Bearano-Urrutia v. Gonzalez, 413 F.3d 444 (4th Cir. 2005). In determining whether a
crime fits the definition of crime of violence, for purposes of the Immigration and Naturalization
Act provision authorizing removal of aliens convicted of an aggravated felony, the court must
look to the intrinsic nature of the crime, not to the facts of each individual commission of the
offense. The alien’s conviction for involuntary manslaughter, under Virginia law, was not a
“crime of violence,” and thus was not an “aggravated felony” warranting removal. Although a
violation of Virginia’s involuntary manslaughter statute intrinsically involved a substantial risk
that the perpetrator’s actions would cause physical harm, since it required reckless disregard for
human life, it did not intrinsically involve a substantial risk that force would be applied as a
means to an end.

United States v. Campbell, 94 F.3d 125 (4th Cir. 1996). The district court correctly
determined that the defendant’s manslaughter conviction was a crime of violence included in the
definition of “aggravated felony” under 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43)(f) and, therefore, properly
applied a 16-level enhancement to the defendant’s sentence. The defendant argued that the
district court improperly applied the statute because his underlying “aggravated felony”
conviction preceded the amendment date that extended the definition of an “aggravated felony”
to include crimes of violence. The appellate court disagreed, and held that the obvious intent of
the amendment was to allow the predicated offenses to be used as enhancement penalties for
those aliens who had been deported after being convicted of an aggravated felony. Additionally,
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the court noted that in considering a sentence under §2L.1.2(b)(2), all prior felonies, no matter
how ancient, were relevant in the determination of a sentence.

United States v. Chacon, 533 F.3d 250 (4th Cir. 2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 1000
(2009). In a matter of first impression, the Fourth Circuit held that “a sex offense perpetrated in
the absence of consent -- and which does not have as an element the use, attempted use, or
threatened use of physical force -- constitutes a ‘crime of violence’ under the Guidelines.””

Part S Money Laundering and Monetary Transaction Reporting

§2S1.1 Laundering of Monetary Instruments; Engaging in Monetary Transactions in
Property Derived from Unlawful Activity

United States v. Barton, 32 F.3d 61 (4th Cir. 1994). The defendant pled guilty to
attempted money laundering. The district court properly rejected the defendant’s argument that
82S1.1(b)(2)’s definition of “value of the funds” should be determined by the amount of money
actually used in the government sting. Rather, the “value of the funds” is the amount of money
the defendant agreed to launder. To hold otherwise would allow the government to affect a
sentencing variable simply by adjusting the amount of flash money used, and it would ignore the
amount the defendant agreed and intended to launder.

United States v. Godwin, 272 F.3d 659 (4th Cir. 2001). The district court correctly
applied §2S1.1 in quantifying the loss attributable to the fraud scheme of defendants convicted of
mail fraud under 18 U.S.C. 8 1341, conspiracy to commit money laundering under 18 U.S.C.

8 1956(h), six counts of money laundering under Section 1956(a)(1)(A)(l), and three counts of
making false declarations in a bankruptcy case under 18 U.S.C. § 152(3). The Fourth Circuit
ruled that the district court’s determination of the loss attributable to their fraud scheme was
correct despite the defendants’ contention that certain amounts of money paid by three non-
testifying investors and funds obtained in good faith should not have been included. The court in
this case found no error in the district court’s determination under 82S1.1 of the amount of
money involved in this type of crime because it is an indicator of the magnitude of the
commercial enterprise.

§2S1.3 Structuring Transactions to Evade Reporting Requirements; Failure to Report
Cash or Monetary Transactions; Failure to File Currency and Monetary Instrument
Report; Knowingly Filing False Reports; Bulk Cash Smuggling; Establishing or
Maintaining Prohibited Accounts

United States v. Abdi, 342 F.3d 313 (4th Cir. 2003). The district court did not err when it
concluded that the defendants were not entitled to the sentencing reduction offered by the safe
harbor provision of 8251.3(b)(2). The defendants pled guilty to conspiracy to structure financial

3This decision arrived at the result intended by the Commission with the amendment to 82L1.2 that became
effective November 1, 2008. See USSG App. C, Amendment 722.
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transactions to evade reporting requirements in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5324. The defendants
failed to demonstrate that the proceeds that they structured were from lawful activities and that
the monies they transmitted were to be used for a lawful purpose. Accordingly, the defendants
were unable to meet their burden of satisfying the conditions for the safe harbor provision.

Part T Offenses Involving Taxation

§2T3.1 Evading Import Duties or Restrictions (Smuggling); Receiving or Trafficking in
Smuggled Property

United States v. Hassanzadeh, 271 F.3d 574 (4th Cir. 2001). The district court did not err
in sentencing a defendant for aiding and abetting the making of a false statement and illegally
importing carpets of Iranian origin. Hassanzadeh challenged the method used to calculate the
loss figure on which his offense level was based. The Fourth Circuit held that the calculation
used by the court applies to “items for which entry is prohibited, limited, or restricted,” and
“harmful” under 82T3.1. Noting the Sentencing Commission’s emphasis that the evaded duty
“may not adequately reflect the harm to society or protected industries,” the Fourth Circuit
concluded that contribution of financial support to terrorism constitutes greater harm to society
than harms usually associated with the illegal importation of goods. Thus, the goods in question
clearly fit the definition of posing a significant “harm to society” and received the correct
calculation.

Part X Other Offenses

§2X3.1 Accessory After the Fact

United States v. Godwin, 253 F.3d 784 (4th Cir. 2001). The defendant was convicted of
harboring a fugitive in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g). The applicable guideline for harboring a
fugitive is the accessory-after-the-fact guideline, §2X3.1, which sets the base level at “6 levels
lower than the offense level for the underlying offense.” The “underlying offense” is defined as
“the offense as to which the defendant is convicted of being an accessory,” §2X3.1, comment
(n.1). The fugitive in this case was convicted of possession of a firearm by a prohibited person,
which carries a base offense level of 14 under §2K2.1(a)(6). Instead of using a base offense level
of 14, the district court used the base level of 24 for the defendant, the level that the fugitive was
actually sentenced to and which reflected enhancements for criminal history. The Fourth Circuit
held that there is no support for this interpretation in the language of 82X3.1, because that
guideline refers to the level of the “underlying offense” and not the level actually applied to the
“principal offender.” The court noted, however, that the base level could be higher than 14 if the
principal had received enhancements for the firearms charge pursuant to 82K2.1 which “involve
the actual conduct of the [principal] in the context of the charged offense,” as opposed to
“enhancements based on the criminal history” of the principal.
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CHAPTER THREE: Adjustments
Part A Victim-Related Adjustments

§3A1.1 Hate Crime Motivation or Vulnerable Victim

United States v. Bolden, 325 F.3d 471 (4th Cir. 2003). The district court erred in
applying the vulnerable victim two-level enhancement pursuant to 83A1.1. Although it was
indisputable that the victims were elderly, and many of them likely suffered from both mental
and physical ailments, there were no factual findings showing that the vulnerability of the
Emerald Health’s residents facilitated the defendant’s offenses. Furthermore, there were no
factual findings supporting the idea that these residents were targeted because of their unusual
vulnerability.

United States v. Bonetti, 277 F.3d 441 (4th Cir. 2002). The adjustment under 83A1.1 for
a vulnerable victim applied only to the victim’s vulnerability and not to the duration of the
offense.

United States v. Hill, 322 F.3d 301 (4th Cir. 2003). The Fourth Circuit noted that under
83A1.1 a defendant should receive a two-level enhancement if he knew or should have known
that a victim of the offense was a vulnerable victim. In the instant case, the victim was in his
mid-sixties, had suffered a stroke, and lived like a hermit. The court held that there was more
than enough evidence to support the district court’s finding that the vulnerable victim
enhancement applied.

§3A1.2 Official Victim

United States v. Harrison, 272 F.3d 220 (4th Cir. 2001). The district court correctly
applied adjustments for assault on an officer and reckless endangerment during flight under
883A1.2(b) and 3C1.2. Defendants Harrison and Burnett pled guilty to armed bank robbery,

18 U.S.C. § 2113(a), (d), and using or carrying a firearm in a crime of violence, 18 U.S.C.

8 924(c). After robbing a bank, the defendants engaged police in a high-speed multiple car chase
during which an accomplice fired shots at officers and both vehicles crashed. The defendants
argued that the adjustments made were based on the same conduct. The Fourth Circuit found
that the adjustments made under 8§3A1.2 and 3C1.2 were not erroneous because each was based
on separate conduct. The court also held that the district court did not err in finding that the
unarmed codefendant could reasonably foresee that one of his armed codefendants could fire a
weapon that would create a risk of serious bodily injury and that the defendant aided and abetted
conduct that created a substantial risk of death or serious bodily injury to the children in the
getaway cars and the public during the high-speed flight that followed the robbery.
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Part B Role in the Offense

§3B1.1 Aqggravating Role

United States v. Nicolaou, 180 F.3d 565 (4th Cir. 1999). The district court did not err in
applying a leadership enhancement after the defendant’s related offenses were grouped. The
defendants were convicted of conducting an illegal gambling business, money laundering, and
income tax charges. Furthermore, the appellate court concluded that the defendant’s gambling
offenses were relevant conduct under the guidelines because they occurred during the
commission of, and in preparation for “the money laundering.” Without the gambling operation,
there would have been no ill-gotten gains to launder.

United States v. Rashwan, 328 F.3d 160 (4th Cir. 2003). The Fourth Circuit noted that, in
order to increase a sentence under 83B1.1, a sentencing court should consider whether the
defendant exercised decision making authority for the venture, whether he recruited others to
participate in the crime, whether he took part in planning or organizing the offense, and the
degree of control and authority that he exercised over others. Furthermore, the court noted that
leadership over only one other participant is sufficient to support the adjustment as long as there
was some control exercised.

United States v. Turner, 198 F.3d 425 (4th Cir. 1999). Because the offense of
intentionally killing and causing the intentional killing of an individual while engaging in a
continuing criminal enterprise did not include a supervisory role as an element of the offense, a
two-level adjustment pursuant to 83B1.1(c) for the defendant’s role in the offense was not
impermissible double counting.

§3B1.2 Mitigating Role

United States v. Pratt, 239 F.3d 640 (4th Cir. 2001). Whether the defendant is a minor
participant in the conspiracy is measured not only by comparing his role to that of his
codefendants, but also by determining whether his “*conduct is material or essential to
committing the offense.””

See United States v. Washington, 146 F.3d 219 (4th Cir. 1998), 8§1B1.8.

§3B1.3 Abuse of Position of Trust or Use of Special Skill

United States v. Akinkoye, 185 F.3d 192 (4th Cir. 1999). The Fourth Circuit has rejected
a mechanistic approach to abuse of trust that excludes defendants from consideration based on
their job titles. Instead, several factors should be examined in determining whether a defendant
abused a position of trust. Those factors include: 1) whether the defendant has either special
duties or special access to information not available to other employees; 2) the extent of
discretion the defendant possesses; 3) whether the defendant’s acts indicate that he is “more
culpable than the others” who are in positions similar to his and engage in criminal acts; and
4) viewing the entire question of abuse of trust from the victim’s perspective. The appellate
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court stated that in reviewing the factors in the defendant’s case, the district court did not err in
determining that the defendant held a position of trust. First, the defendant had special access to
information as a real estate agent. The agency’s clients not only gave the agency confidential
information, but also keys to their homes. In addition, the defendant’s position made his criminal
activities harder to detect. Finally, although the banks may have ultimately borne the financial
burden, the clients were victimized as well because their identities and credit histories were used
to facilitate the crime.

United States v. Bolden, 325 F.3d 471 (4th Cir. 2003). The Fourth Circuit noted that,
under 83B1.3, an adjustment in the base offense level was authorized if the defendant abused a
position of public or private trust in a manner that significantly facilitated the commission or
concealment of the offense. Furthermore, the court noted that the question of whether an
individual occupied a position of trust should be addressed from the perspective of the victim. In
the instant case, the victims were Medicaid and the American taxpayers. Medicaid entrusted the
defendant with thousands of dollars in prospective payments to Emerald Health that were to be
used for the benefit of its Medicaid beneficiaries. Her abuse of that authority contributed
significantly to the commission and concealment of the fraud scheme. Accordingly, the court
affirmed the district court’s application of the “abuse of position of trust” adjustment.

United States v. Caplinger, 339 F.3d 226 (4th Cir. 2003). The district court erred in
applying a two-level enhancement under §3B1.3 on the ground that the defendant abused a
position of trust when he misrepresented himself as a prominent physician in an effort to attract
investors. Application of an enhancement under 83B1.3 required more than a mere showing that
the victim had confidence in the defendant; something more akin to a fiduciary function was
required. The fact that the defendant posed as a physician did not by itself mean that he occupied
a position of trust. The defendant did not assume a physician-patient relationship with any of the
victims. Rather, the victims were simply investors who invested their money in IPI. The court
concluded that although the defendant’s assumed status as an accomplished physician was used
to persuade the investors to place money into the defendant’s venture, the facts did not support
the conclusion that the defendant, by posing as a physician, occupied a position of trust with the
victims as that term was used in §83B1.3 of the guidelines. Accordingly, the district court erred in
applying a two level enhancement under 83B1.3.

United States v. Ebersole, 411 F.3d 517 (4th Cir. 2005). The facts set forth in the
presentence report did not support the imposition of the 83B1.3 enhancement. Representatives
of the victimized federal agencies, in awarding contracts to the defendant’s company, relied on
the defendant’s assertions that he was certified by state and federal regulating agencies as a
bomb-sniffing canine team handler. The presentence report describes an arms-length commercial
relationship where trust is created by the defendant’s personality or the victim’s credulity. These
facts cannot justify the abuse of trust enhancement.

United States v. Godwin, 272 F.3d 659 (4th Cir. 2001). Adjustment for a